IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NO. 2010-CA-00791

UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER,

Defendant/Appellant

VERSUS

DONNIE FOSTER AND SHIRLEY FOSTER, LEGAL GUARDIANS OF THE MINOR CHILD, MALIK R. CALDWELL, WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARY, ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF TAMIKA LYNETTE FOSTER

Plaintiffs/Appellees

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Circuit Court held that defendant University of Mississippi Medical Center (UMMC) was liable for the wrongful death of Ms. Tamika Foster because it breached the standard of care by failing to diagnose Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia Purpura (TTP) when Ms. Tamika Foster presented to UMMC's OB High Risk clinic in August, 2005. A Report of Autopsy is the only identifiable evidence cited in the Circuit Court's Memorandum Opinon and Order in support of its finding that Ms. Foster had TTP.

An ADAMTS13 test performed on postmortem blood is the foundation for the autopsy report's finding that Ms. Tamika Foster's cause of death was myocardial ischema with arrhythmia, secondary to ThromboticThrombocytopenia Purpura. During the trial, Defendant produced undisputed testimony that the ADAMTS13 test produces invalid results when the test is done with postmortem blood. UMMC raises two appeal issues:

- Should the final judgment be reversed and rendered where the only "substantial" evidence supporting the circuit court's finding as to cause of death was based upon an autopsy report that relied upon an invalid test?
- 2. Did the circuit court err when it sustained Plaintiff's objection and refused to allow UMMC's expert and UMMC's treating physician to comment about the content of the autopsy report?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Introduction

These definitions and acronym explanations may help the Court understand the brief.

Thrombocytopenia is "a decrease in the number of platelets". This case centers around two causes of thrombocytopenia: (1) The HELLP Syndrome and (2) Thrombotic

Thrombocytopenic Purpura (TTP).² Both are serious diseases in pregnant women and can be life-threatening. (Ex P-39, P-45).

The acronym "HELLP" describes the syndrome's clinical features. Those are: hemolysis (H), elevated liver enzymes (EL), and low platelets (LP). (Ex. D-23 at page 5; Ex. P-39 at page 1).

The pentad of findings for TTP are (1) microangiopathic hemolytic anemia,

(2) thrombocytopenia, (3) neurologic abnormalities—confusion, headache, paresis, visual hallucinations, seizures, (4) fever, and (5) renal dysfunction. Obstetrics Normal and Problem Pregnancies Fourth Edition at 1172 (2002) edited by Stephen G. Gabbe, Jennifer R. Nibyl and Joe Leigh Simpson (Ex. P-46).

The ADAMTS13 test is used to identify Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia Purpura. (Ex. P-44, P-45)

Nature of the Case

This is a Mississippi Tort Claims Act medical malpractice claim to recover damages from

Dorland's Illustrated Medical Dictionary 29th Edition at 1836 (2000).

Obstetrics Normal and Problem Pregnancies Fourth Edition at 1170 (2002) edited by Stephen G. Gabbe, Jennifer R. Nibyl and Joe Leigh Simpson (Tr. 63; Ex. P-46).

the University of Mississippi Medical Center (UMMC) for the wrongful death of Tamika Lynette Foster.

Malik R. Caldwell, minor child of Tamika L. Foster, acting through his legal guardians, Donnie Foster and Shirley Foster (parents of Ms. Foster), filed a civil action on behalf of the wrongful death beneficiaries for the wrongful death of his mother, Tamika L. Foster, which occurred on August 20, 2005 while Ms. Foster was a patient at the UMMC hospital. The two wrongful death beneficiaries of Ms. Foster are her two minor children, Malik R. Caldwell, and Roy Bruce Day, Jr., (Ex. P-14). Plaintiff alleges UMMC was negligent in failing to diagnose and treat Ms. Foster for TTP and that said negligence was a proximate contributing cause of Ms. Foster's death. (R. 53-62).

Disposition in the Court Below

UMMC responded to the Complaint and denied all substantive allegations. (R. 67-73).

A three-day bench trial was held before Honorable Tomie T. Green. (Tr. 1). Plaintiff's witnesses included Dr. Robert Stern, OB-GYN expert witness, Dr. Charles Greenberg, hematologist expert witness, and UMMC treating physicians Dr. Tarrik Zaid, Dr. Meredith Kirk Griffin, and Dr. David Bofill. UMMC called Dr. Baha Sibai, OB expert witness, UMMC treating physician Dr. James Martin and hematologist Dr. Joel Lawrence Moake (by deposition). (Tr. 59, 199, 370, 395, 482, 613, 705).

During the trial, UMMC moved for a directed verdict which the circuit court denied. (Tr. 606-607,608; R. 139-147). UMMC renewed the motion at the close of the case. (Tr. 776). After the trial ended, UMMC moved to strike plaintiff's expert testimony because, *inter alia*, the experts relied on the invalid results of the ADAMTS13 test. (R. 129, 135).

The circuit court entered a Memorandum Opinion and Order and found UMMC breached

the standard of care because it did not diagnose TTP and treat Ms. Foster for TTP and held the breach of duty proximately caused Ms. Foster's death. Final Judgment was entered against UMMC in the amount of \$500,000.00 (R. 242-253; RE 7-18).

UMMC moved for a judgment as a matter of law or for a new trial which the Circuit Court denied. (R. 254-256, 262). UMMC then filed its Notice of Appeal. (R. 263).

Statement of Facts

Brief Chronology of Ms. Foster's Treatment at UMMC

On January 25, 2005, Ms. Foster presented to OB Receiving at UMMC with complaints of blurred vision and headache, was prescribed medication and the blood test showed a platelet count of 386,000. (Ex. 1 at UMC0356-366). (The Circuit Court's Memorandum Opinion and Order mistakenly uses the date of February 25, 2005 for this visit. (R. 243; RE 10)).

On July 30, 2005, Ms. Foster saw Dr. Tarrik Zaid at OB Receiving. She presented with high blood pressure so he admitted her to monitor her for blood pressure, collection of urine and diabetic work-up. She was discharged on August 1, 2005, with a diagnosis of gestational diabetes. Her blood platelet count was 171,000. (Ex. 1 at UMC0394-435; Tr. 377-380).

On August 8, 2005, Ms. Foster was seen at the OB High Risk Clinic for her initial visit. (Ex. 1 at UMC436-447).

On August 12, 2005, Dr. Griffin saw Ms. Foster at the OB Receiving and she complained of blurred vision and numbness in her fingertips and toes. Dr. Griffin diagnosed gestational thrombocytopenia. Ms. Foster's blood count showed a platelet count of 91,000. (Ex. 1 at UMC449-465).

On August 18, 2005, at 11:30 a.m. Ms. Foster presented to OB Receiving with complaints of nausea, burning in the upper abdomen, vomiting, epigastric pain, intermittent

headache, some urinary urgency, denied dysuria or hematuria, good fetal movement, no vaginal bleeding and no loss of fluids. She was diagnosed with Class I HELLP, started on steriods and sent to labor and delivery at 7:15 p.m. where her child was delivered by c-section. She was taken to MICU. She received fluids, magnesium sulfate and dexamethasone. She was restful through the night and her pain, nausea and vomiting resolved. At 1:00 p.m. on August 19, 2005, Ms. Foster was returned to labor and delivery. Ms. Foster's condition worsened and at 3:15 a.m. on August 20, 2005, Ms. Foster went into respiratory arrest. She was coded and expired at 4:12 a.m. on August 20, 2005. (Ex. 1 at UMC468-691).

An autopsy was performed on August 20, 2005 at 2:00 p.m. On August 23, 2005 an ADAMTS13 test was performed using postmortem blood. The Report of Autopsy was signed on November 30, 2005, and stated the cause of death was "myocardial ischema with arrhythmia secondary to Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia Purpura." (Ex. 1 at UMC 632-635; Ex. P-4; RE 21-24).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court relies exclusively on the autopsy report to support its finding that Ms Foster had TTP. Based on that finding the Circuit Court then finds that UMMC breached the standard of care because it did not diagnose TTP and did not treat Ms. Foster for TTP. The Circuit Court also relies on the autopsy report to establish causation. It finds that as a proximate result of UMMC's breach of the standard of care, Ms. Foster dies from TTP.

The Circuit Court's finding that Ms. Foster had TTP is clearly erroneous. The undisputed facts show the autopsy report's finding is based on the ADAMTS13 test. The undisputed facts show the ADAMTS13 test is not reliable when postmortem blood is used. Therefore, the undisputed facts show there is no scientific or medical evidence to support the autopsy report's finding that Ms. Foster's death was secondary to TTP. The opinion in the autopsy report does not meet the reliability test of M.R.E 702 because it is "not based on sufficient facts"; more specifically, it is based on no facts; it is simply a conclusion.

Sans the autopsy report, the circuit court's opinion has no factual basis for the legal conclusion that UMMC breached the standard of care. Since the holding is not supported by any substantial credible evidence, UMMC asks the Court to reverse the verdict entered against it and to render a judgment of dismissal.

The circuit court also erred when it sustained plaintiff's objection to Dr. Sibai and Dr. Martin testifying about the content of the autopsy report based on their training and experience in treating patients with TTP and HELLP. Dr. Sibai and Dr. Martin did not seek to testify as pathologist. Instead, they sought to comment on some of the autopsy report's findings based on their own training and experience as physicians who treat patients with HELLP and TPP. If the Court does not reverse and render a verdict in favor of UMMC but instead reverses for a new

trial, then UMMC asks the Court to find that the testimony of Dr. Sibia and Dr. Martin about the autopsy report is admissible under M.R.E. 702.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

The circuit court's bench trial ruling is reviewed under the same deference afforded a chancellor.

[A]fte reviewing the entire record, [this Court] will affirm if the judge's findings of fact are supported by substantial, credible evidence and are not manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous.

Young v. University of Mississippi Medical Center, 914 So.2d 1272, 1275 (¶ 10)(Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

The record is insufficient to support the verdict because (1) the autopsy report is based on an invalid application of a test, and (2) no other evidence in the record is sufficient to support the Circuit Court's finding that Ms. Foster had and died from TTP.

When evaluating the admissibility of expert opinion testimony, the Court applies an abuse of discretion standard and "will only reverse a trial judge's decision if it [is] 'arbitrary and clearly erroneous.'" *University Medical Center v. Martin*, 994 So.2d 740,745 (¶18)(Miss. 2008), quoting, Poole v. Avara, 908 So.2d 716, 721 (Miss. 2005).

The Circuit Court erred when it sustained Plaintiff's objection to testimony by UMMC's expert witness and treating physicians about the content of the autopsy report because the ruling violates M.R.E. 702.

The Circuit Court's Memorandum Opinion And Order

The Circuit Court held UMMC breached the standard of care by failing to diagnose TTP when Ms. Foster presented on August 12 and on August 18, 2005. (R. 245, 248,249; RE 12, 15, 16). All other findings flow from this finding.

The Circuit Court based its ruling on the autopsy report. (R. 245, 248; RE 12, 15). The

autopsy report cannot sufficiently support the Circuit Court's holding of failing to diagnose TTP because the autopsy report's finding is based on an invalid application of the ADAMTS13 test to postmortem blood.

The Circuit Court also states that its holding is based on "the testimony of the expert's [sic] comprehensively and collectively" but it doesn't identify the specific expert testimony upon which it relies. (R. 247; RE 14). UMMC has not found where any expert individually, or collectively with one or more of the other experts, opined that UMMC breached the standard of care by failing to diagnose that Ms. Foster had TTP. There is no way to comprehensively and collectively arrive at a standard of care based upon the Plaintiff's expert witness testimony and UMMC's expert witness testimony. This leads to the conclusion that the Circuit Court simply starts with the unreliable autopsy report and works backward to arrive at a breach of the standard of care. That is not permitted under M.R.E. 702. The rule contemplates that an expert will arrive at the standard of care by reviewing the medical records and the facts and circumstances surrounding the treatment and then announce a standard of care.

Autopsy Report Is Not Substantial Evidence that TTP Caused Ms. Foster's Death

A study published on February 27, 2009 concluded that "[P]ostmortem ADAMTS13 activity levels may not be valid in establishing a diagnosis of TTP, and high inhibitor levels in this setting may be related to elevated PFH. Caution must be used in the interpretation of ADAMTS13 testing in the presence of hemolysis." (Ex. D-28; RE 19).

After Ms. Foster's death, Dr. Martin decided to have blood drawn for an ADAMTS13 test because he was trying to find the cause of her death. He had never ordered the test in a postmortem context. Four years later, Dr. Martin learned "that [The ADAMTS13 test is] invalid if its drawn after the patient has died because of the normal body changes that occur it sort of

makes the value not accurate, but I did not know that until well after the time of [Ms Foster's] death." (Tr. 719).

Dr. Moake, a hematologist, testified the results are not reliable when postmortem blood is used:

- Q. Well, did you find in this case that the lab that did tests for the ADAM factor found that it was low?
- A. I did see that report.
- Q. And is that consistent with TTP?
- A. Well, the blood sample was drawn hours after her death and submitted. I've been running a lab for 20 years that assays ADAMTS 13 and we don't accept postmortem samples because they're not reliable.
- Q. And do you have studies that show a pattern of unreliability of postmortem blood?
- A. Studies, no
- O. Is there-
- A. I've just run I've run a lab for 20 years and we don't accept those samples.
- Q. Is there any literature out there that is peer tested that says -- that is consistent with your position on that?
- A. There is one relatively recent report, although I don't recall exactly where it was. I remember referencing it in a review I wrote some months back. It's either in Transfusion or Journal of Clinical Apheresis.

(Ex. D-34(b) at deposition pages 11-12)(emphasis added).

Dr. Meredith Griffin testified the ADAMTS13 test when conducted with postmortem blood cannot produce reliable information about TTP:

Q. I know that her autopsy showed microthrombi, and I know that her ADAMTS13 level came back decreased. However, we know now from recent research that a low ADAMTS13 is not indicative if it's drawn postmortem.

(TR 429).

Dr. James Bofill explained the ADAMTS13 test is not valid when the blood is drawn after the patient dies:

A. The foundation of that paper was correct at the time that we wrote them. Since that time the science has evolved to demonstrate to us that that test was not valid in the circumstance in which it was used which was several hours after the patient had died.

(Tr. 495).

In a colloquoy with the Circuit Court, Dr. Bofill explained that the pathologist did not know that the ADAMTS13 test was invalid. (TR. 585).

Dr. Stern, plaintiff's expert, did not know the reliability of the test using postmortem blood:

- Q. All right. Do you know the error rate of an ADAMTS13 test utilizing postmortem sample?
- A. The err rate?
- Q. Yes.
- A. Meaning what. You mean if you took the same sample and tried to do serial values of that what would be like the coefficient and variation?
- Q. Yes.
- A. No, I haven't seen that published. I've worked a little bit with the enzyme just in a HELLP situation. There is some variability. So there can be a wide range of values. So I wouldn't be surprised if it would be high. But I don't know it. I haven't seen this.
- Q. And you have not done any research on that and you've not published anything?
- A. No, no, I have not.

(TR. 350)

Neither of Plaintiff's expert witnesses gave a specific clear opinion that Ms. Foster died from TTP. Where the experts link Ms. Foster's death to TTP, that linkage is grounded upon the autopsy report.

Dr. Stern, Plaintiff's OB-GYN expert, never diagnosed TTP in connection with Ms. Foster's August 12 visit and vaguely linked Ms. Foster's August 18 visit with TTP, but that linkage is grounded in the autopsy report. Dr. Stern testified:

I think that the main point on August 12th was that she had symptoms. She had neurological symptoms. She had an unexplained low platelet count. The diagnosis was not clear at this

point. I'm not going to say it was HELLP syndrome. We can't say it was TTP, TTP. It was uncertain.

(TR. 90).

A. But it doesn't mean she's not developing pre-eclampsia. We don't know what was wrong with her on 8/12, but we know she's getting sick.

(Tr. 157).

- Q. All right. Tell me are you calling it a diagnosis of HELLP on the 12th or not a diagnosis of HELLP on the 12th?
- A. I'm not calling it. I'm calling it ... very suspicious on the 12th, but I will not call it HELLP syndrome.

(Tr. 161-162)

- Q. Okay. What is the correct diagnosis on August the 12th, 2009; diagnosis?
- A. We don It have a diagnosis for sure on August 12th. I never said we did.
- Q. You don't have a diagnosis.
- A. I said we have a sick patient. We do not have a diagnosis. We need a diagnosis.

(Tr. 169).

A. In my mind the cause of her numbness, I don't know. I'm not sure know what the cause is, but I don't believe its hypoglycemia. That's all I'm saying. I do not know what the cause is. She's having blurred vision and numbness in her fingers and toes. I don't know what's the cause.

(Tr. 178).

A. What I'm saying is that we have a patient with neurologic symptoms and thrombocytopenia. That's all I'm saying. I do not have a diagnosis here. I do not.

(Tr. 179).

- Q. You don't disagree with the diagnosis of HELLP on August the 18th, '05 when she presented, do you?
- A. No, I don't.

(Tr. 186)

A. The final autopsy report revealed TTP, thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura.

(TR. 91).

Dr. Greenberg, Plaintiff's hematologist expert, does link TTP to Ms. Foster's death but that linkage is grounded only on the autopsy report. Otherwise, he gives no specific clear opinion independent of the autopsy that Ms. Foster died from TTP.

Dr. Greenberg admitted it was impossible to diagnose HELLP or TTP on August 12, 2005.

- Q. It's not possible based on these lab values to make a diagnosis of HELLP or TTP, is it?
- A. No, no, I would not -- absolutely not a diagnosis of HELLP or TTP at this point.

(Tr. 312).

On August 18, Dr. Greenberg said the diagnosis was either HELLP or TTP:

- Q. So you agree that as of August 18th, HELLP and TTP are the differential diagnosis?
- A. Yes, sir, in the differential, yes.

(Tr. 313)

Dr. Greenberg says that TTP killed her and he bases that statement on the autopsy. (Tr. 229-231).

- Q. (By Mr. Baladi) Your opinion that she died of TTP as you just said was based on the lab test deficiency in ADAMTS13; is that correct?
- A. Both a deficiency in the activity and the presence of an inhibitory antibody activity.

(Tr. 277).

On the other hand, UMMC's expert, Dr. Sibai, gave clear specific opinions that were grounded in the medical records that Ms. Foster was correctly diagnosed with Gestational Thrombocytopenia on August 12 and correctly diagnosed with HELLP on August 18 and did not have TTP.

Dr. Sibai's testimony that Ms. Foster was properly diagnosed with Gestational

Thrombocytopenia on August 12 is amply supported by citations to the medical record and his

explanation of the meaning of those records based upon his experience and education.

- A. She came with blurred vision and then had one episode of numbness and tingling in the fingers. And they checked her blood sugars and there were blood pressures and were blood tests obtained. And, ultimately, based on the findings, a diagnosis of gestational thrombocytopenia and she was diagnosed with gestational diabetes already.
- Q All right. And do you agree with that diagnosis of gestational
- A. Yes, absolutely. No doubt in my mind.
- Q. And what do you base that on?
- A. I base my opinion on the following. obtained a blood test and the blood test revealed that the patient had a normal hematocrit, and she had a platelet count that was 91,000.

...

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