IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2010-CA-00791

UNIVERSITY OF MISSISSIPPI MEDICAL CENTER, an unincorporated agency or entity of the State of Mississippi

APPELLANT

VS.

DONNIE FOSTER and SHIRLEY FOSTER, LEGAL GUARDIANS OF THE MINOR CHILD, MALIK R. CALDWELL, WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARY, AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF TAMIKA LYNETTE FOSTER

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES

Appealed from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

David C. Dunbar, Esq. (MSI DUNBARMONROE, P.A. 270 Trace Colony Park, Suite A Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 (601) 898-2073 Office (601) 898-2074 Facsimile

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

UMMC's appeal is limited to two alleged errors. First, UMMC erroneously contends that the trial judge relied solely on an allegedly invalid autopsy report in reaching her decision. UMMC failed to object to the admission into evidence of the autopsy report at trial and UMMC's attempt to raise this issue on appeal is improper. Further, there was ample evidence to conclude that the autopsy report was reliable as to the cause of death. UMMC claims that without the autopsy report the circuit court had no legal basis to support its conclusion that UMMC breached the standard of care with regard to Ms. Foster. This contention is erroneous because even without the autopsy report, the record contains sufficient other evidence to support the trial court's conclusion that the cause of death was TTP and that UMMC breached the applicable standard of care for treating HELLP or TTP. When the record contains "substantial evidence" to support the trial court's findings, the trial judge's decision should be affirmed. Jackson Public School Dist., 875 So. 2d at 1102.

Second, UMMC contends that the trial judge erred in refusing to allow UMMC's expert and treating physician to comment about the contents of the autopsy report. No proffer was made into the record of the disputed testimony and, therefore, UMMC waived this issue because there is no evidence in the record on which to judge the effect of the excluded testimony. Further, "a trial judge's decision as to whether a witness is qualified to testify as an expert is given the widest possible discretion." *Pounders*, 970 So. 2d at 145. UMMC cannot show that the trial judge abused her discretion in refusing to allow comments on the autopsy report by individuals who did not prepare said report and who are not experts in the field of pathology.

ARGUMENT

The trial court's judgment in favor of the Fosters should be affirmed because the Fosters introduced credible and sufficient evidence to establish that the UMMC physicians were negligent and committed medical malpractice in caring for Ms. Foster and that such negligence and malpractice caused her death. The issue decided by the trial court was whether UMMC breached the standard of care owed to Ms. Foster, regardless of whether Ms. Foster had HELLP or TTP, and whether that breach resulted in her death. UMMC has tried to blur the issues on appeal by arguing that the autopsy report – prepared by UMMC's own physicians – was unreliable and that the finding of TTP in the autopsy report was erroneous.

UMMC limited its appeal to two issues. UMMC claims that the trial court erred in relying on the autopsy report in reaching her decision and that the trial court erred in excluding the testimony of UMMC's expert and physician as to the validity of the autopsy report. Both issues raised by UMMC are improper. UMMC did not object to the admission of the autopsy report at trial and raising that issue on appeal is in error. As to the expert testimony UMMC claims was excluded, UMMC did not offer a proffer of the disputed testimony at trial, therefore, UMMC waived the issue because there is no evidence in the record on which to evaluate the effect of the allegedly excluded testimony. Because UMMC failed to properly preserve these issues for appeal, this response brief could simply end here. However, because the Fosters believe that UMMC may attempt to further misconstrue the issues in its reply brief, the Fosters will provide a recap of the issues decided on appeal and the supporting evidence in section III of this brief.

I. UMMC failed to object at trial to the admission of the autopsy report into evidence and waived its opportunity to do so.

UMMC has argued on appeal that the trial judge relied exclusively on the autopsy report in

argue at trial that Ms. Foster did not have TTP. This is contrary to all prior evidence and statements by UMMC. The autopsy report of UMMC physicians Dr. Bret C. Allen and Dr. LaFerra Young set forth this conclusion and the autopsy report has never been amended, despite UMMC's change of opinion. [R.E. at 102-105; Ex. P-4]. The autopsy report is no less than an admission of a party opponent that the cause of death was TTP. Miss. R. EVID. 801(d)(2). Dr. James N. Martin, Jr., one of Ms. Foster's treating physicians at UMMC, wrote an article specifically about Ms. Foster and the misdiagnosis of HELLP instead of TTP, and that article has never been revised. [R.E. at 106-111; Ex. P-5, James N. Martin, Jr., M.D., et al, TTP Masquerading as HELLP Syndrome in Late Pregnancy]. The article also constitutes an admission by UMMC that the cause of death was TTP. Miss. R. EVID. 801(d)(2).

The Fosters' Amended Complaint states that Ms. Foster's "autopsy report lists the cause of death as being Myocardial Ischemia with arrhythmia, secondary to TTP (thrombotic thrombocytopenia purpura), with a history of HELLP syndrome." [R. at 56]. To which UMMC responded only, "the autopsy report and death certificate speak for themselves." [R. at 71]. UMMC did not deny the finding of TTP or object to the accuracy of the autopsy report in its Answer to the Amended Complaint. Further, in UMMC's original Designation of Expert Witnesses, UMMC provided the following judicial admission, "It is believed that Tamika may have suffered from pregnancy induced TTP..." [R. at 37].

In furtherance of UMMC's attempt to change its position right before trial and argue that Ms. Foster never had TTP, UMMC alleges on appeal that the autopsy is conclusively unreliable. UMMC failed to present sufficient evidence at trial to support that allegation in the face of the Fosters' evidence to the contrary. Further, the autopsy report was not the only evidence of TTP, as will be discussed *infra*, although UMMC breached the standard of care regardless of whether Ms. Foster had

TTP or HELLP. Finally, and most importantly, UMMC failed to object to the admission of the autopsy report into evidence and waived its objection and did not preserve that issue for appeal. As such, UMMC's claim that the trial court committed error by relying on the autopsy report – prepared by UMMC physicians – which it now claims is unreliable, is without merit and should be denied.

II. UMMC did not submit a proffer into the record of the testimony it claims was erroneously excluded, therefore, any alleged error was waived.

The trial judge did not err in determining that Dr. James N. Martin, Jr. and Dr. Baha M. Sibai were not qualified to testify regarding the content of the autopsy report. Whether an expert is qualified to testify is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and the trial judge's decision "is given the widest possible discretion." *Pounders*, 970 So. 2d at 145; MISS. R. EVID. 702. The decision of the trial judge as to admission of expert testimony "will stand unless the discretion he used is found to be arbitrary and clearly erroneous." *Sacks v. Necaise*, 991 So. 2d 615, 622 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Poole v. Avara*, 908 So. 2d 716, 721 (Miss. 2005)).

Counsel for UMMC attempted to have Dr. Sibai comment on the autopsy report as part as of his testimony. The trial judge determined that Dr. Sibai could not testify to the pathology report because he was not a pathologist and pathology was outside of his expertise. [R.E. at 95; Trial Tr. at 658]. Dr. Sibai argued that he was not talking about pathology, rather he was talking about the condition of women with HELLP and TTP at the time he operated on them. [R.E. at 97; Trial Tr. at 660]. That testimony was not refused, however, the judge determined that Dr. Sibai's expertise was dealing with these women when they are alive, not in preparing autopsy reports after they are deceased. *Id.* The court limited the testimony of Dr. Martin in regard to the autopsy report as well. [R.E. at 101; Trial Tr. at 733]. Both Dr. Sibai and Dr. Martin were allowed to talk extensively about the condition of living women with HELLP and/or TTP, they were simply limited in discussing the

results of the autopsy, which was outside their areas of expertise.²

When UMMC attempted to elicit testimony regarding the autopsy report from these individuals and the trial judge limited their testimony, UMMC failed to properly preserve this argument for appeal because a proffer of the testimony they sought to elicit was not offered to the court on the record. "[T]o preserve an evidentiary exclusion for appeal, a proffer must be made as to what the content of the evidence or testimony would be." *Redhead v. Entergy Mississippi, Inc.*, 828 So. 2d 801, 813 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). This Court has held that in the absence of a meaningful proffer the lower court cannot be placed in error. *Knotts by Knotts v. Hassell*, 659 So. 2d 886, 891 (Miss. 1995). UMMC offered no evidence of the substance of the proposed testimony from Dr. Sibai and Dr. Martin and, therefore, UMMC failed to properly preserve this issue for appeal.

The trial court has discretion to determine whether an expert is qualified to testify at trial and the trial court did not err in determining that Dr. Sibai and Dr. Martin were not qualified to testify in the field of pathology. Further, UMMC did not provide a proffer of the testimony that it sought from Dr. Sibai and Dr. Martin; therefore, this appellate court has no testimony from which it can evaluate the alleged error. As such, this issue was not properly preserved for appeal and UMMC's argument on this issue should be rejected.

III. The trial court relied on substantial, credible evidence to support its finding that UMMC physicians and staff violated the standard of care in treating Ms. Foster whether her true diagnosis was HELLP or TTP.

Because UMMC failed to properly preserve its two issues for appeal, this brief is technically complete with the two preceding sections. However, because this is the only opportunity the Fosters have to speak on appeal, and due to the possibility that UMMC will attempt to raise additional issues

² UMMC did not offer any expert competent to discuss the findings of UMMC's autopsy report; neither the physicians who prepared the report nor independent pathologist were called to testify. UMMC's autopsy report stands unchallenged by competent testimony.

in its reply, the Fosters set forth the following explanation of what was decided by the trial court and the evidence supporting the trial court's findings.

A. Substantial evidence supported that the autopsy report was reliable, and, regardless, substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding that Ms. Foster died of TTP, with or without the autopsy report.

UMMC claims that the autopsy is invalid because it includes the results of an ADAMTS13 test. (Appellant Brief at 9). UMMC presented an article at trial indicating that the ADAMTS13 test may not be valid when performed postmortem. [See Ex. D-28, Denis M. Dwyre, et al, Value of ADAMTS13 activity and inhibitor in the postmortem diagnosis of TTP]. This article is clearly not conclusive. It provides, "Postmortem ADAMTS13 activity levels may not be valid in establishing a diagnosis of TTP, and high inhibitor levels in this setting may be related to elevated PFH. Caution must be used in the interpretation of ADAMTS13 testing in the presence of hemolysis." [Ex. D-28 (emphasis added)]. This article does not state that a postmortem ADAMTS13 test is invalid. It simply states that caution should be used when interpreting the test.

Dr. Martin ordered an ADAMTS13 test after Ms. Foster's death because he suspected TTP. At trial, he stated that since that time he has learned "that it's invalid if it's drawn after the patient has died because of the normal body changes that occur it sort of makes the value not accurate..." [R.E. at 98; Trial Tr. at 719]. However, Dr. Martin has not personally investigated the reliability of the test. [R.E. at 100; Trial Tr. at 721]. Counsel for UMMC never asked Dr. Martin where he got this information or why he was so sure the test was unreliable. Additionally, Dr. Martin's credibility was in issue since he was ultimately in charge of the care, or lack of care, resulting in the death of Ms. Foster.

UMMC suggests that all of the experts and physicians testifying at trial concluded that the ADAMTS13 is unreliable postmortem, but that is simply far from the truth. The deposition

testimony of Dr. Joel Moake cited by UMMC is inconclusive at best. (Appellant Brief at 10). Dr. Moake stated that his laboratory does not accept postmortem samples. [R.E. at 151-154; Ex. D-34(b), Depo. of Dr. Moake at 11]. He did not know of any studies concluding that postmortem samples are unreliable, but that has simply always been the practice in his lab. *Id.* Dr. Moake knew of recent article on this topic, but no further discussion was had regarding the article or documentation to support the opinion that postmortem samples were unreliable. *Id.*

Dr. Charles Greenburg testified regarding the article and concluded that it did not necessarily relate to the case at hand because the article documented only four cases and it "doesn't relate to a case where there is documented hemolysis and documented changes [in the patient]." [R.E. at 78; Trial Tr. at 343]. UMMC misrepresented Dr. Greenburg's testimony in its brief by stating that Dr. Greenburg did not know of the reliability of the ADAMTS13 test. (Appellant Brief at 11). UMMC cited an excerpt of Dr. Greenburg's testimony related to the error rate of the ADAMTS13 test without reference to the substantial testimony of Dr. Greenburg prior to that point. Dr. Greenburg actually testified that using the ADAMTS13 "is an accepted way to confirm and diagnose TTP in the postmortem period with somebody who has clinical manifestations of TTP and laboratory findings and autopsy findings of TTP." [R.E. at 80; Trial Tr. at 345].

Dr. Greenburg stated that the 2009 article simply raised caution, it did not invalidate the autopsy at issue. [R.E. at 82; Trial Tr. at 347]. Dr. Greenburg disagreed with the assertion that the ADAMTS13 test is unreliable postmortem.

So in this case though, the diagnosis was made, blood collected several hours after death in which case the enzyme activity in the blood for von Willebrand factor was low. Moake says that he thought it might be unreliable because it's inactivity. I respectfully disagree; that it may be a little bit lower.

³ The excerpt of testimony provided on page 11 of UMMC's Brief, being testimony from page 350 of the transcript, is incorrectly assigned to Dr. Stern. This was actually Dr. Greenburg's testimony.

But the real cincher, and this is the fact that she had an antibody. Antibodies I can tell you from working in labs, we lay them out on the - - I mean they sit at room temperature. And antibody was present in her blood stream that destroyed von Willebrand factor cleaving enzyme. She had an autoimmune disease that was directed against this von Willebrand factor protein. She had antibody in her bloodstream that they were able to measure, a postmortem sample. And that's essentially the diagnosis [TTP]. It was supported by the pathology, too. So, I don't think we have - - I just can't - - I mean I can't understand their argument any other way.

[R.E. at 51-52; Trial Tr. at 230-231]. Dr. Greenburg further testified that his determination that Ms.

Foster died of TTP was not based solely on the ADAMTS13 result:

- Q: Your opinion that she died of TTP as you just said was based on the lab test deficiency in ADAMTS13; is that correct?
- A: Both a deficiency in the activity and the presence of an inhibitory antibody activity.

A: The antibody is basically an antibody that inhibits the activity.

Q: What's the name of it?

- A: It's just an auto antibody to ADAMTS13. It's basically the presence of an inhibitor. In the plasma it's measured as units. In this case it was 2.5 units and I think upper limits was .5 as I recall from the record.
- Q: Okay. Let me as you this. Are you talking about looking for deficiency in the ADAMTS13 activity or something separate?
- A: No. I am giving you what the pathobiology is of TTP. TTP is congenital. You are born without the protein so it has no activity. There's no activity for the von Williebrand's [sic] factor cleaving enzyme. If you inquire [sic acquire] the disease you produce an antibody that inhibits the activity. So ISA's are performed both by how much activity or von Williebrand's [sic] factor cleaving activities in the blood and how much activity is there when you take the patient's plasma and mix it with a known amount of the enzyme and ask can it inhibit a known amount of the von Williebrand's [sic] factor cleaving enzyme. She had low activity, and then was able to basically in her plasma inhibit von Williebrand's [sic] factor cleaving activity. There are two parts of the report.

[R.E. at 65-66; Trial Tr. at 277-278]. The ADAMTS13 test was not the only evidence that Ms. Foster

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